AFSA-USAID FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE	3
ARTICLE 1: PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT AND RECOG	NITION OF
THE BARGAINING UNIT	4
ARTICLE 2: DEFINITIONS	5
ARTICLE 3: EFFECTIVE DATE, DURATION, AND GROUN REOPEN	
ARTICLE 4: EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIE	S8
ARTICLE 5: UNION RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	10
ARTICLE 6: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILI	TIES13
ARTICLE 7: NEGOTIATIONS	14
ARTICLE 8: USE OF OFFICIAL FACILITIES AND SERVICE	ES18
ARTICLE 9: USE OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM	20
ARTICLE 10: DUES WITHHOLDING	21
Attachment A - AFSA Service Memo Template	23
SIGNATURES	24

PREAMBLE

Pursuant to the policy set forth by Chapter 10 of the Foreign Service Act of 1980 (FS Act) governing Labor-Management Relations, the following articles of this Framework Agreement ("Agreement"), together with any and all supplemental agreements and amendments to this Agreement that may be subsequently agreed to, constitute the total Agreement between the Foreign Service of the United States Agency for International Development, (hereinafter called "USAID" or the "Agency" or "Employer"), and the American Foreign Service Association (hereinafter called the "Union" or "AFSA"). The Agency and the Union are collectively referred to as the "Parties."

The Parties agree that the statutory protection of the right of employees to organize, bargain collectively, and participate through the Union safeguards the public interest, contributes to the effective conduct of business, and facilitates and encourages the amicable settlement of disputes between the Parties involving conditions of employment. The Parties also recognize that the unique conditions of Foreign Service employment require a distinct framework for the development and implementation of modern, constructive, and cooperative relationships between management officials and organizations representing members of the Foreign Service. This Agreement should be interpreted and administered in a manner consistent with the requirement of an effective and efficient Government. The Parties hereby affirm their commitment to build a positive and cooperative bilateral relationship.

With the foregoing in mind, the Parties subscribe to the following statements of the respective rights and obligations of the Agency and the Union:

ARTICLE 1: PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT AND RECOGNITION OF THE BARGAINING UNIT

On January 22, 1973, AFSA was certified as the exclusive representative of all Foreign Service employees of the United States Agency for International Development, as reaffirmed by Chapter 10 of the FS Act. The bargaining unit constitutes a single world-wide bargaining unit, excluding confidential employees described in Section 1002(6) of the Foreign Service Act (FS Act), management officials as described in Section 1002(12) of the FS Act, employees engaged in personnel work in other than a purely clerical capacity, employees engaged in criminal or national security investigations and employees who audit the work of individuals to ensure that their functions are discharged with honesty and integrity.

The Parties agree that for purposes of domestic positions, there is a presumption that management officials include Assistant Administrators, Assistants to the Administrator, and their Deputies within each Bureau and Independent Office or equivalent positions and above. This Agreement does not preclude AFSA or a management employee from challenging that presumption in the appropriate forum, i.e., before the Foreign Service Labor Relations Board.

¹ 22 USC §4102(6).

² 22 USC §4102(12).

ARTICLE 2: DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Agreement, the terms listed below are defined as follows:

BARGAINING UNIT: The group of USAID employees for whom AFSA has been designated the exclusive representative, subject to the exclusions detailed in Article 1.

CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT: Personnel policies, practices, and matters, whether established by regulation or otherwise, affecting working conditions, but does not include policies, practices, and matters:

- 1) Relating to political activities prohibited abroad or prohibited under subchapter III of chapter 73 of title 5, U.S. Code;
- 2) Relating to the designation or classification of any position under section 501 of the FS Act:
- 3) To the extent such matters are specifically provided for by Federal statute; or
- 4) Relating to Government-wide or multiagency responsibility of the Secretary affecting the rights, benefits, or obligations of individuals employed in agencies other than those which are authorized to utilize the Foreign Service personnel system.

CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEE: An employee who acts in a confidential capacity with respect to an individual who formulates or effectuates management policies in the field of labor-management relations.

DAYS: Unless otherwise indicated, use of the word "days" refers to calendar days. In computing any period of time prescribed in this Agreement, the day of the act from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. For example, if a party receives a proposal on April 1st, a 14-day response period would begin on April 2nd. Where the day the response is due falls on a weekend or federal holiday, the due date is the next business day.

EMPLOYEE: A member of the Foreign Service who is a citizen of the United States, wherever serving as further described in the Foreign Service Act.³

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT: The articles of this Agreement, together with any and all supplements and amendments to this Framework Agreement.

MANAGEMENT OFFICIAL: An individual who:

- 1) Is a chief of mission or principal officer;
- 2) Is serving in a position appointed by the President, by and with the advice and consent

³ FS Act §1002(8), 22 USC §4102(8).

of the Senate, or by the President alone;

- 3) Occupies a position which in the sole judgment of the Secretary is of comparable importance to the offices mentioned in subparagraph (a) or (b);
- 4) Is serving as a deputy to any individual described by subparagraph (a), (b), or (c);
- 5) Is assigned to carry out functions of the Inspector General of the Agency and the Foreign Service under section 209 of the FS Act; or
- 6) Is engaged in the administration of this subchapter or in the formulation of the personnel policies and programs of the Agency.

ARTICLE 3: EFFECTIVE DATE, DURATION, AND GROUNDS TO REOPEN

Section A. Effective Date and Duration

The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date of Agency Head Approval or thirty days after the last date of signature on page 24.

Subject to Section B, this Agreement shall remain in effect for three years from the effective date. Thereafter, the Agreement shall be renewed for additional one-year periods dating from the anniversary of the effective date, unless between 120 and 60 days (the reopener window) prior to that date either party gives written notice to the other of its desire to reopen the Agreement. The other party must acknowledge the notice promptly upon receipt. The Parties will meet in a timely manner to begin negotiations over that reopening, including ground rules if any. The current USAID-AFSA Framework Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until all proposed changes have been negotiated and agreed to.

Section B. Grounds for Reopening the Agreement Outside the Reopener Window

This Agreement may be amended or supplemented outside the reopener window by mutual agreement.

The Parties are governed by existing and future statutory law. In the event of a perceived conflict between the law and this Agreement, either party may give written notice to the other of their intent to reopen the Agreement outside the reopener window to address the conflict.

The Parties are governed by existing government-wide rules and regulations. Should any conflict arise between the terms of this Agreement and any government-wide rules or regulations issued after the effective date of this agreement, the Agreement will govern. The Parties may reopen the Agreement by mutual agreement or unilaterally during the next reopener window.

To the extent that provisions of the Agency's current or future policies are in specific conflict with this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement will govern. The Parties may reopen the agreement by mutual agreement or unilaterally during the next reopener window.

ARTICLE 4: EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Section A. Union Membership

- 1) An employee has the right to form, join, or assist a labor organization, or to refrain from any such activity, freely and without fear of penalty or reprisal. No employee shall be required as a condition of employment, assignment, promotion, or retention, to join or refrain from joining any labor organization. Each employee shall be protected in the exercise of such right. Except as otherwise provided by the FS Act, such right includes the right:
 - a. To act for a labor organization in the capacity of a representative and, in that capacity, to present the views of the labor organization to the Secretary and other officials of the Government including Congress, or other appropriate authorities; and
 - b. To engage in collective bargaining with respect to conditions of employment through representatives chosen by the employees as provided by law.
- 2) No interference, restraint, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal will be practiced by the Agency against an employee for exercising any of the rights guaranteed by Chapter 10 of the FS Act or this Agreement; nor shall the Agency discourage or encourage employee membership in a labor organization. Neither shall an employee be disciplined or otherwise discriminated against by the Agency because they participated in a grievance, appeal, unfair labor practice complaint or any other proceeding brought under the provisions of law.
- 3) Nothing in this Agreement shall require an employee to become or to remain a member of a labor organization.
- 4) This Agreement does not prevent any employee in the bargaining unit from bringing, on their own initiative, a grievance, complaint, or any matter of personal concern to the attention of the appropriate officials without fear of penalty or reprisal.

Section B. Representation Rights - Formal Discussions

- 1) An exclusive representative shall be given the opportunity to be present at:
 - a. Any formal discussion between one or more representatives of the Employer and one or more employees or their representatives concerning any grievance or any personnel policy, practice, or other general condition of employment; and
 - b. Any examination of the employee by a representative of the Employer in connection with an investigation if the employee reasonably believes that the examination may result in disciplinary action against the employee and the employee requests such representation.
- 2) The Agency shall annually inform all USAID personnel via Agency Notice of the requirement to give the Union the opportunity to be present at all formal discussions (as defined in Section B(1)(a) above). In addition, the Agency shall annually inform AFSA bargaining unit employees via Agency Notice of their Weingarten rights and identify AFSA as the exclusive representative for FS employees. Prior to sending these annual Notices, the Agency will provide AFSA with a draft Notice. AFSA has five days to provide comments or suggested changes to the Agency.

ARTICLE 5: UNION RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Section A. Recognition and Representation⁴

The Agency recognizes the Union's right to act for and negotiate agreements covering all employees in the unit. The Union will represent all employees in the unit in those matters where it is acting as the exclusive representative without discrimination and without regard to Union membership.

Section B. Officers and Representation

While the Agency reserves the right to assign work, including the issuance of a directed reassignment where appropriate, the Agency will respect the statutory rights of the Union and will recognize duly elected or appointed AFSA officers and other representatives of AFSA, including their rights to act freely and without fear of penalty or reprisal. As such, the elected or appointed AFSA Vice President will, upon request, be excepted from participation in the assignments processes. However, where the AFSA Vice President will have served continuously in the United States for any period of continuous service exceeding eight years, they must seek an extension from the Administrator. AFSA service will normally be considered a special circumstance warranting approval pursuant to 22 USC 3984(a).

AFSA will provide the Agency with a complete list of officers and representatives on a timely basis after each election of general officers and when new officers are appointed within the Union.

Section C. Official Time,⁵ Time-in-Class, and Telework

- 1) The AFSA USAID Vice President shall be granted 100% official time to perform representational activities. Official time is not authorized for internal Union business.
 - The Agency agrees to provide an outgoing AFSA USAID Vice President 100% official time for a two-week period after the end of the official term so that the outgoing Vice President can orient the incoming AFSA USAID Vice President on matters relating to representational activities.
- 2) The Parties agree that employees designated by AFSA as representatives in advance shall be authorized a reasonable amount of official time when the employee would otherwise be in a duty status to perform representational duties. Reasonable amounts of official time may include requests for 100% official time for an additional representative for a definitive period of time. Such requests must include a description of the activities the representative will engage in. When approved, the Agency will so notify the supervisors of employees involved.

⁴ FS Act §1013, 22 USC §4113.

⁵ FS Act §1018(d), 22 USC §4118(d).

- 3) The Agency will extend the time-in-class limitation of the AFSA VP for the period served as AFSA VP, not to exceed a cumulative extension of four years.
- 4) The AFSA VP may request regular and recurring telework of up to eight (8) days per pay period, which shall be approved barring prohibition by the Telework Enhancement Act or its successor.

Section D. Participation in Promotion Process

- 1) While serving as the AFSA VP, the AFSA VP may elect to participate in the promotion process.
- 2) The promotion evaluation file or equivalent of a current or former AFSA VP will include the most recent five years of their USAID service excluding their time as AFSA VP.
- 3) The Agency will include an AFSA Service Memo (see Attachment A) in the AFSA VP's eOPF. The Agency will include the AFSA Service Memo in a current or former AFSA VP's promotion evaluation file or equivalent for all years where their service as AFSA VP is part of a promotion board's review.

Section E. Post Representatives

The Agency agrees to recognize AFSA's designation of Agency employees as AFSA representatives at post. Upon timely written notice of an individual's designation from AFSA to the Agency's Labor Management point of contact, they or their designee will certify the designation and promptly notify post management of the designation and authorization to deal with the named individual. The Parties agree that all dealings at post shall be consistent with 3 FAH-1H-5120.

Section F. Changes in Bargaining Unit Status

When the Agency decides to change the Bargaining Unit Status (BUS) code of a position coded as 2283, the Union will be notified of the change prior to implementation.

Section G. Listings of FS Personnel

The Agency will provide the Union a list of Foreign Service personnel, both bargaining unit and non-bargaining unit employees. This listing will be alphabetical with grade, email address, and current post of assignment. The Agency agrees to provide a full listing as of September 30 of the year that this Agreement goes into force, and then at least on a monthly basis.

AFSA shall be advised of the schedule for orientation sessions for new USAID employees. The Agency shall provide new bargaining unit members the opportunity to attend an AFSA orientation session at AFSA headquarters or virtually. A listing of employees for orientation showing their name, position, Bureau/Office, and back stop and bio will be provided to the Union in advance of the sessions.

Section H. Union Right to Information

In accordance with the provisions of Section 1013(e)(4) of Chapter 10 of the FS Act, the Agency agrees to provide the Union, upon request and to the extent not prohibited by law, data:

- 1) Which is normally maintained by the Agency in the regular course of business;
- 2) Which is reasonably available and necessary for full and proper discussion, understanding, and negotiation of subjects which fall within the scope of collective bargaining; and,
- 3) Which does not constitute guidance, advice, counsel, or training provided for management officials or confidential employees, related to collective bargaining.

USAID will acknowledge receipt and will furnish data to the extent not prohibited by law, which is compliant with 22 USC 4113(e)(4), in a timely manner, normally within seven (7) days. If the Agency is not able to furnish appropriate data within this timeframe, it will provide estimates on data production timelines. The Agency is encouraged to provide partial responses as data becomes available.

ARTICLE 6: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Section A. Management Rights

Nothing in this section shall affect the authority of any management official, in accordance with applicable law to:

- 1) Determine the mission, budget, organization, and internal security practices of the Agency, and the number of individuals in the Foreign Service or in the Agency;
- 2) Hire, assign, direct, lay off, and retain individuals in the Foreign Service or in the Agency, to suspend, remove, or take other disciplinary action against such individuals, and to determine the number of members of the Service to be promoted and to remove the name of or delay the promotion of any member in accordance with regulations prescribed under the FS Act;⁶
- 3) Conduct reductions in force, and to prescribe regulations for the separation of employees pursuant to such reductions in force conducted under Section 611 of the FS Act;⁷
- 4) Assign work, to make determinations with respect to contracting out, and to determine the personnel by which the operations of the Agency shall be conducted;
- 5) Fill positions from any appropriate source;
- 6) Determine the need for uniform personnel policies and procedures between or among the Foreign Affairs agencies; and
- 7) Take whatever action may be necessary to carry out the mission of the Agency during emergencies.

Section B. Permissive and Mandatory Bargaining Authority

Nothing shall preclude the Agency and the Union from negotiating:

- 1) At the election of the Agency, the numbers, types and classes of employees or positions assigned to any organizational subdivision, work project, or tour of duty, or on the technology, methods, and means of performing work;
- 2) Procedures which management officials will observe in exercising any function under this section; or
- 3) Appropriate arrangements for employees affected by the exercise of any function under this section by such management officials.

⁶ FS Act §1005, 22 USC §4105.

⁷ FS Act §611, 22 USC §4010a.

ARTICLE 7: NEGOTIATIONS

Section A. General

The Parties have the responsibility to conduct negotiations and other dealings in good faith and in such manner as will further the public interest. While this article is predominantly focused on formal bargaining procedures, the Parties believe that pre-decisional involvement over matters that impact the bargaining unit can further that public interest, without regard to whether those matters are negotiable subjects of bargaining under 22 USC 4105(b)(1). This is not intended to have AFSA involved in day-to-day matters of the Agency but reflects an effort to work collaboratively on issues of mutual concern. Pre-decisional involvement does not, however, waive Management's or Union's statutory rights.

Section B. Notice of Proposed Changes to Conditions of Employment

The Parties recognize the right of either party to propose changes to conditions of employment not covered by this Framework Agreement, where appropriate. Until the Parties satisfy their obligations under Chapter 10 of the Foreign Service Act, current conditions of employment will remain in effect, barring exigent circumstances. Written notices of proposed changes to conditions of employment may be made by either party at any time, unless there is a memorandum of agreement governing when such proposals may be made.

- 1) The written notice of the proposed change shall include:
 - a. The nature and scope of the proposed change;
 - b. Identification of the employees impacted by the proposed change;
 - c. A description of the change;
 - d. For changes that require revisions to existing documents, the proposing party will clearly indicate the proposed revisions using "track changes" or a similar function;
 - e. An explanation of the proposing party's plans for implementing this change;
 - f. An explanation of why the proposed change is necessary;
 - g. The proposed implementation date;
 - h. The proposing party's Point of Contact; and,
 - i. Any other relevant information that is necessary to facilitate bargaining, as required by law.

- 2) Notification may include a final date for the Parties to request negotiations with respect to the proposed change. In no case shall such final date be less than fourteen (14) days from receipt of the notification of the proposed change. When notification does not include a final date for the receiving party to request negotiations, and the Parties wish to negotiate, they shall make a request to negotiate within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the notification.
- 3) Should the receiving party wish to request to bargain over the proposed change, they must respond in writing by the deadline with their request and initial proposals, unless they have requested a briefing or clarification pursuant to Part 4 below.
- 4) If the receiving party wishes to request a briefing, written clarification, or both prior to determining whether to submit a request to bargain and submit initial proposals, it must do so within seven (7) days of receipt of the written notice. Requests for written clarification may include, but are not limited, requests for data covered by 22 USC 4111.
- 5) If the receiving party requests a briefing, the briefing will be conducted within seven (7) days of receipt of the written request. Briefings may be held using the Agency's teleconference, video conference, or web conference equipment in lieu of in-person meetings. The receiving party may request written clarification within seven (7) days of any briefing.
- 6) If the receiving party requests written clarification before or after any briefing, the proposing party shall respond in writing normally within seven (7) days of receipt of the written request. If the receiving party is not able to provide a complete response within this timeframe, it will provide estimates on response timelines. The receiving party is encouraged to provide partial responses as data becomes available.
- 7) The receiving party must submit its request to bargain and initial proposals as soon as possible, but no later than seven (7) days after the briefing or receipt of the proposing party's response to the request for written clarification, whichever is later.
- 8) Each party at the request of the other, shall be required to meet virtually or in person for good faith negotiations no sooner than seven (7) days after the proposing party has received a request to bargain and initial proposals.
- 9) The Union may, at any time, request data that is reasonably available and necessary for full and proper discussion, understanding, and negotiation of subjects within the scope of collective bargaining pursuant to 22 USC 4111(e)(4), as outlined in Article 5, Section H. Prior to implementation of any proposed changes, the Agency will satisfy its statutory and contractual obligations associated with that request.

Section C. Ground Rules for Negotiations

The Parties may by mutual agreement establish ground rules for negotiations that differ from the procedures outlined in Article 7, Section B and that dictate the labor-management engagement to

follow. All engagements will be in compliance with the Foreign Service Act's labor management provisions.

Section D. Extensions

Either party may request a 10-day extension to submit bargaining proposals and such requests shall be granted. In addition, nothing herein shall preclude the Parties by mutual consent from extending any time limits imposed under this Article.

Section E. Conclusion of Negotiations

- 1) To the extent conditions of employment are negotiated to agreement with AFSA, the terms of that agreement will be documented by a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA). The Parties may document the conclusion of their engagement through other means, by mutual agreement.
- 2) The Parties hereby agree that all future MOAs will include a section that addresses the term limits of that MOA, to include if the MOA is intended to continue indefinitely. Where a term limit is set, the section will specify the length of the MOA, whether the Parties will allow an MOA to rollover if not reopened in a timely manner, and as needed, the window of opportunity to reopen an MOA by either party at the end of its term. Nothing prevents the Parties from reopening an MOA at any time by mutual agreement.
- 3) If the agreement is intended to serve as a supplement to this Framework Agreement, the agreement must state so explicitly and the Framework Agreement must be amended accordingly.
- 4) In the event a party is unable to implement the agreement in a timely manner, that party will provide written notice and the justification for the delay.

Section F. Negotiability Disputes and Impasse

- 1) If a party believes a proposal by the other party is not negotiable because it is inconsistent with or contrary to applicable law, rule, or regulation, or because it otherwise does not believe it has a duty to bargain, the Parties are encouraged to explore alternative language that will achieve the purpose of the proposal and would not render the proposal nonnegotiable if unsuccessful, the Parties may submit the issue for resolution in an appropriate forum, such as the Foreign Service Labor Relations Board.
- 2) When good faith negotiations do not result in agreement and the Parties are at impasse over negotiable proposals, the Parties will first seek mediation to try and resolve the matter. If the Parties are unable to reach agreement through mediation, either party may request that the Foreign Service Impasse Disputes Panel (FSIDP) consider the impasse. While the impasse is before the FSIDP or a mediator, neither party will implement the proposed change except to the extent mutually agreed to or if the change is necessary to the effective functioning of the Agency.

Section G. Implementation Disputes and Unfair Labor Practices

- 1) Any dispute between the Agency and the Union concerning the effect, interpretation, or a claim of breach of a collective bargaining agreement may be resolved as an implementation dispute or as an Unfair Labor Practice.
- 2) The Parties mutually agree to make reasonable, good faith, efforts to resolve disputes concerning the effect, interpretation, or a claim of breach of a negotiated agreement informally prior to initiating any formal proceeding.
- 3) Prior to filing an Unfair Labor Practice concerning any matter, the filing party shall give the other party at least seven (7) days advance notice.

ARTICLE 8: USE OF OFFICIAL FACILITIES AND SERVICES

Section A. Purpose

Unless otherwise specified, the services and facilities described in this article shall be provided by the Agency to the Union free of charge. AFSA's use of these services and facilities shall be confined exclusively to matters arising from the performance of its obligations as exclusive representative under Chapter 10 and 11 of the FS Act unless expressly authorized below.

Section B. Space and Furniture

For the convenience and efficient servicing of employees within the bargaining unit, the Agency agrees to provide suitable office space, containing individual offices, meeting space, and surplus office furniture, if available, for the use of the Union. Such space shall be within the facility considered USAID Headquarters, currently the Ronald Reagan Building (RRB). The Agency shall provide appropriate signage for AFSA's office space as well as general services, including a reasonable amount of toner and paper for provided printers, for any facility related issues under their authority to include office equipment provided by the Agency. The Agency, with advance notice, also agrees to provide the Union with access to a cleared space, within RRB, containing a computer and telephone for classified discussions and drafting on an as needed basis.

Additionally, the Agency agrees to make reasonable efforts to provide conference rooms and auditoriums within RRB to enable the Union to conduct general membership and other such meetings. Requests for use of such space must be initiated by the Union in writing, at least three days prior to the requested date. The Union understands that the Agency may need to preempt the space, with little notice, for its own use. The Agency will make every effort to provide alternative arrangements when possible.

Section C. Telephones, IT Equipment, and Other Equipment

The Union may use Agency telephones for all international and local calls in conducting its representational business. The Agency will provide office-standard computer equipment, to include a scanner/printer/multi-function device if requested and available.

Section D. Submission to USAID Official News Media

Materials that AFSA wishes to submit for publication in official Agency media outlets will be submitted simultaneously to HCTM/ELR and the appropriate point of contact (e.g., Editor, Frontlines; Point of Contact, Global Announcement).

Section E. Bulletin Boards

1) AFSA may have access to Agency Bulletin Boards. Bulletin board material must be properly identified as belonging to AFSA and relate to employees, their employment by the Agency or AFSA's role as the exclusive representative. AFSA assumes all

- responsibility incident to the preparation, reproduction, distribution, posting, and maintenance of material on bulletin boards. Postings will be devoid of libelous, scandalous, or scurrilous material.
- 2) The Agency agrees to permit AFSA representatives at overseas posts to display AFSA material in an area where other organizational material is located, e.g., on the CLO Notice Board, USAID Mission break area or in a similarly visible location. Specific notices of AFSA events can be displayed in general use spaces, such as on a cafeteria notice board or other general use bulletin board.

Section F. Correspondence to Members

The use of the Agency's facilities for registered mail is made necessary by AFSA's need to transmit documents between its Washington headquarters and its membership worldwide.

AFSA may use the Agency's facilities on a reasonable basis for the distribution of general printed matter and individually addressed correspondence arising from AFSA's role as the exclusive representative.

Section G. Electronic Mail Systems

- 1) The Agency shall provide AFSA e-mail access for representational purposes, such as communicating directly with employees on announcements of meetings, obtaining employee input on issue between Management and AFSA, and to assist employees with grievances, investigations, disciplinary and other similar employment related matters.
- 2) Normally, USAID does not consider communications between and among AFSA and its members about exclusively AFSA representational activities and AFSA business to be Agency records subject to the Freedom of Information Act. If the Agency receives a request under the Freedom of Information Act for e-mails or other communications to or from AFSA, and upon review of the responsive information concludes that the request includes government records, prior to producing any such documents, the Agency shall contact AFSA to make them aware of the request and the Agency's planned response.
- 3) Any Agency issued mobile devices requested and issued to the AFSA Vice President or staff member, will be paid for by AFSA.
- 4) AFSA will abide by all relevant provisions of the ADS when using the Agency's intranet and unclassified email system.
- 5) As an exception to the general prohibition on the use of email systems for internal union business, AFSA may transmit no more than three broadcast emails during AFSA's election season related to that election using the USAID e-mail system.

ARTICLE 9: USE OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

Unless otherwise stated, AFSA's access to the Agency's Notice and other telecommunications systems shall be confined exclusively to matters arising from the performance of its obligations as exclusive representative under Chapter 10 and 11 of the FS Act.

Section A. Standard Procedures

- 1) AFSA will observe Agency transmittal guidelines for the various types of correspondence it sends through Agency systems.
- 2) AFSA-submitted Agency Notices will be written in the appropriate style and clearly identified to indicate that transmission is from AFSA through the Agency. AFSA-submitted Agency Notices must be devoid of libelous, scurrilous, or scandalous material.
- 3) AFSA-submitted Agency Notices shall be unclassified except in extraordinary circumstances and by agreement of both Parties. AFSA-submitted Agency Notices shall be sent routine unless there is mutual agreement for a higher priority.
- 4) An AFSA-submitted Agency Notice must be published provided it is in compliance with the provisions of this Article and is devoid of libelous, scurrilous, or scandalous material. The Agency may disseminate the notice for wider input from management officials; however, redrafting of the Agency Notice is not the prerogative of the Agency.

Section B. Overseas Procedures

Any communication presented by a USAID AFSA representative at post for transmission to staff will be presented to the designated management official at post or regional management officer to be cleared for transmission. Communication must be cleared provided it is in compliance with the provisions of this Article and is devoid of libelous, scurrilous, or scandalous material. Redrafting of the communication is not the prerogative of the clearing official.

ARTICLE 10: DUES WITHHOLDING

Section A. General

Payroll deductions for the payment of Union dues may be made from the pay of bargaining unit employees and non-bargaining unit employees, if authorized by the employee.

Section B. Supply of Forms

The Union will be responsible for the distribution of Standard Form 1187 for use by an employee who wishes to authorize the deduction of their dues.

Section C. Changes in Dues Structure

The AFSA President or authorized AFSA official (e.g., AFSA Member Services) shall notify the Agency's Director, HCTM/ELR or designee when the dues structure changes. HCTM/ELR will immediately notify the Agency's Payroll Office of the change. AFSA agrees that changes to dues structure can only occur once every calendar year.

Section D. Bi-Weekly Deductions

Authorized deductions will be made each bi-weekly pay period from the pay of all employees who have authorized such allotment. The deduction will normally be effective the next full pay period following the receipt by HCTM/ELR of the SF1187. No deduction will be made in any period for which the employee's net earnings after other deductions are insufficient to cover the full amount of the allotment for dues.

On or about June of each year, USAID will review the dues withholding amounts of all AFSA members to ensure the correct amount of dues is being withheld. USAID will share the results of that review with AFSA.

USAID will address and correct in a timely manner errors identified by either party.

The Union will not be charged or assessed a fee for services rendered, by the Agency, in connection with these deductions.

Section E. Bi-Weekly Listings

The Agency will transmit to AFSA on a bi-weekly basis:

- 1) A list of all employees for the previous period.
- 2) A list of employees who are enrolled in payroll deductions for the previous pay period and the amount of dues they paid; and,

3) A list of all accessions and separations of bargaining unit members during the previous pay period, if any, as well as any changes to the bargaining unit status of employees.

These reports shall include all relevant information, to include nature of action codes and unique identifiers such as the social security numbers where appropriate.

Section F. Annuity Deductions

Annuity deductions for the payment of AFSA dues will be made from the annuity of retired Foreign Service members if authorized by the annuitant by completing Standard Form 1187A. The Agency will apprise retiring Foreign Service members of this option as part of the Agency's ongoing retirement education and counseling efforts.

Section G. Discontinuance of Dues

An employee may seek to cease payroll dues deduction by contacting HCTM directly or by contacting AFSA Member Services and processing the necessary paperwork (SF-1188). In the event the employee contacts AFSA, AFSA shall inform the Agency to cease payroll dues deduction and send the necessary paperwork to HCTM. The Agency shall process the SF-1188 within 14 days of receipt. AFSA may also request that the Agency automatically cease dues deduction of any member AFSA no longer considers to be in good standing. Should AFSA no longer remain the exclusive representative of the Foreign Service bargaining unit, all related dues deduction shall cease on the effective date of that loss of recognition. If an employee is no longer a member of the Foreign Service, the Agency shall discontinue the automatic dues deduction.

Attachment A - AFSA Service Memo Template

The following employee se	rved as the Vice President for US	SAID of the American Foreign
Service Association (AFSA	during the time period listed.	
Employee Name	Start of Service	End of Service

AFSA is both the professional association and exclusive representative for the U.S. Foreign Service. AFSA's over 16,000 members include active-duty and retired members of the Foreign Service at USAID, the Department of State, Foreign Commercial Service, Foreign Agricultural Service, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service and U.S. Agency for Global Media.

AFSA is both the principal advocate for the long-term institutional wellbeing of the professional career Foreign Service and responsible for safeguarding the interests of AFSA members. AFSA also seeks to increase understanding among the American people about the vital role of the U.S. Foreign Service in sustaining American global leadership.

The Vice President serves as the primary labor negotiator for employees in the Foreign Service bargaining unit at USAID. They advise the AFSA president and other board members on workforce policies affecting their constituencies. They have a duty of fair representation as the exclusive employee representative of all employees within their bargaining units and negotiate collective bargaining agreements covering all employees in each unit described in Sections 1012 and 1013 of the Foreign Service Act. In coordination and with guidance from the president, they represent their constituents with the public, including the Congress.

Service in this role safeguards the public interest, contributes to the effective conduct of public business, facilitates and encourages the amicable settlement of disputes between employees and their employers involving conditions of employment.

Per 22 USC 4003, no negative inference is permitted as a result of an employee's service in this capacity.

SIGNATURES

The American Foreign Service Association and the U.S. Agency for International Development hereby agree to this negotiated Framework Agreement on December 7, 2022. This Agreement is executed to become effective within thirty (30) days or upon approval by the Agency Head, whichever is earlier.

For USAID	For AFSA	
Nicholas M. Gottlieb	Jason K. Singer Vice President, USAID	
Director Employee and Labor Relations	Vice President, USAID	
77	Shan L. Legy	
Kenneth M. Bledsoe, Esq.	Sharon L. Papp, Esq.	
Attorney Advisor, Office of General Counsel	General Counsel	
Call Mr.	Sh Ban	
Joseph L. Vaster III	Sue L. Bremner	
Deputy Director, Employee and Labor	Labor-Management Adviser	
Relations	-	
Come Carrie	LORRAINE Digitally signed by LORRAINE SHERMAN Date: 2022.12.07 16:19:07 -05'00'	
James Truong	Lorraine Sherman	
HR Specialist	AFSA Representative	

Agency Head Approval	
Filh Mu-Co	1/4/2023
Paloma Adams-Allen	Date
Deputy Administrator, Management and Resources	